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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Michael Bernard Smith, the appellant below, seeks review 

of the court of appeals decision in State v. Smith, noted at ___ Wn. App. 2d 

___, 2020 WL 5759768, No. 79626-7-I (Sept. 28, 2020). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The trial court demanded an explanation from defense 

counsel under GR 37 for why he exercised peremptory challenges on two 

Black jurors to be fair to Mr. Smith, who is Black.  Despite counsel’s 

explanations being inadequate under GR 37, the trial court accepted them 

without following GR 37’s mandatory process at all.  The court of appeals 

refused to review this issue by asserting that Mr. Smith invited the error.  

Does the court of appeals decision merit review under every RAP 13.4(b) 

criterion (a) because its application of the invited error doctrine is 

inconsistent with a de novo standard of review, (b) because the trial court, 

not counsel, “set up” the error, (c) because the trial court lacked legal 

authority to excuse the jurors under the rule based on counsel’s 

explanations, and (d) because it turns the policy goals of GR 37 on their 

head by allowing white judges and white lawyers to deprive a Black 

defendant and Black jurors of GR 37’s protections? 

2. Does the court of appeals decision merit review under RAP 

13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3) because it misapplies constitutional precedent as to 
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when a complete breakdown and conflict of interest in the attorney-client 

relationship deprives the accused of the assistance of counsel? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Suleyma Gaytan testified that she and Mr. Smith fought because 

Gaytan allowed her father to use the car.  RP 217.  Gaytan stated that Smith 

also wanted to take her phone, prompting Gaytan to give the phone to her 

daughter, which Smith allegedly snatched away.  RP 218-20.   

Gaytan said that Smith then picked her up from a sitting position by 

the neck and hit her on the face.  RP 221.  Despite this, Smith had no marks 

on her neck, reported to police that she was not in pain, had no trouble 

breathing, and declined medical attention of any kind.  RP 299, 305-06.  The 

state charged Smith with second degree assault based solely on the 

strangulation means contained in RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g).  CP 1.   

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to continue the trial date.  He 

stated he was not prepared, citing a need to investigate Smith’s criminal 

history and scoring, and suggesting “[m]aybe I haven’t done the job that 

needs to be done.”  RP 3-4.  Smith and the state both objected to the 

continuance request, which was denied.  RP 7.  Counsel was, however, 

granted a one-day recess to prepare, given that counsel stated, “I’m always 

ready for jury trial, but today I am feeling at odds . . . with my client, too, but 

with my own feelings about how I’m representing this client.”  RP 8.   
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The next day, Smith asked to fire his lawyer, stating that he was not 

adequately representing him or communicating with him.  RP 62.  Smith 

confirmed he was not seeking self-representation but wanted to “try and get 

another lawyer.”  RP 62.  Without inquiry into the nature of Smith’s 

dissatisfaction, the court denied Smith’s request: “We’re not going to delay 

this trial.  You’re being adequately represented, more than adequately.”  RP 

62. 

After the parties selected the jury, the trial court raised a GR 37 issue, 

asking Smith’s attorney to explain why he had used two peremptory 

challenges on African American jurors.  RP 155-56.  The trial court raised 

this issue “to be fair to Smith,” who is African American.  RP 156.  Among 

other things, counsel explained he excused both Jurors 28 and 32 because 

neither spoke much during voir dire, which, according to counsel, meant that 

Juror 28 would not be “taking much part in things” and Juror 32 “didn’t want 

to be here.”  RP 158-59.  The State did not object to either of the challenges 

and the court accepted counsel’s explanation, stating “counsel had a proper 

basis” to excuse Juror 32 and “counsel had a non-racially motivated reason” 

to excuse Juror 28.  RP 158-60.  Counsel also took issue with Juror 28’s 

“male perspective” despite the fact that ultimately, there were at least five 

males on the empaneled jury, and possibly seven males.   
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In the middle of trial testimony, defense counsel requested to 

withdraw when Smith was not present, stating he was terrified of Smith 

given Smith’s repeated threats.  RP 266-67.  Counsel made several 

statements that he was “terrified” and “scared to death” of Smith and that his 

life was in “grave danger.”  RP 267-68.  The trial court recessed, reconvened 

to require Smith’s presence, and then had defense counsel repeat his 

concerns.  RP 271-75.  The trial court denied counsel’s motion to withdraw, 

ordering another recess so that counsel and Smith could “reestablish 

rapport.”  RP 279.  Counsel asked, “Am I being ordered to meet with 

[Smith] or is that my choice?”  RP 280.  The court stated, “I’m providing 

you an opportunity to reestablish rapport with Mr. Smith and to decide on 

your strategy going forward.”  RP 281.   

Following this recess, counsel claimed that he and Smith were 

unable to communicate and asked the court to reconsider its denial of his 

motion to withdraw.  RP 281-83.  Counsel repeatedly indicated he was 

contemplating disobeying the court’s order to continue representation.  RP 

281-83.  Counsel also argued that Smith should be deemed to have “waived 

that valid right to have assistance of counsel simply by way of his conduct.”  

RP 282.  The trial court did not find that Smith forfeited any right, noting 

that “further conduct . . . threatening his counsel or anyone else, that would 

result in forfeiture . . . .”  RP 285.  Defense counsel thus remained. 
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The jury found Mr. Smith guilty of second degree assault.  CP 48.  

The trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 74 months.  CP 72.  

Smith appealed, contending that the trial court failed to inquire into his 

dissatisfaction when he sought to discharge counsel, that the trial court erred 

in denying counsel’s motion to withdraw despite a complete breakdown in 

communication and conflict of interest, and that the trial court misapplied 

GR 37 and State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 255, 429 P.3d 467 (2018), in 

accepting counsel’s explanations for excusing two Black jurors, explanations 

that did not and cannot comport with GR 37 in several respects.  CP 77-79.  

The court of appeals affirmed. 

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW  

1. The court of appeals’ application of invited error to 

refuse to review two erroneous juror excusals under GR 

37 and State v. Jefferson conflicts with the de novo 

standard of review set out in Jefferson and cases applying 

the invited error doctrine, meriting review   

The court of appeals decision claims, “We review Batson1 challenges 

for clear error and defer to the trial court to the extent its rulings are factual.  

State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 (2018).”  Slip op., 15.  This 

directly conflicts with Jefferson, which holds that, given the objective 

inquiry required under GR 37, “we stand in the same position as does the 

trial court, and we review the record and the trial court’s conclusions on this 

 
1 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). 
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third Batson step de novo.”  192 Wn.2d at 250 (emphasis added).  “This is a 

change from Batson’s deferential, “clearly erroneous” standard of review of 

the purely factual conclusion about ‘purposeful discrimination.’”  Id.  The 

court of appeals’ erroneous analysis flows from its incorrect understanding 

of (and therefore conflict with) Jefferson, a constitutional decision that 

altered the entire framework for addressing the very important issue of racial 

discrimination in jury selection.  As such, the court of appeals decision 

merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). 

The court of appeals’ application of the invited error doctrine shows 

the fault in refusing to apply the de novo standard.  Considered de novo, the 

question of law is whether the court corrected applied GR 37, and the record 

is plain that the court did not.  The trial court, to protect Mr. Smith’s rights, 

demanded an explanation why defense counsel excused two Black jurors 

pursuant to GR 37.  RP 155-56.  The trial court heard counsel’s explanations 

that the jurors were not engaged enough in the process, too reserved, and/or 

otherwise had problematic behavior or demeanor.  RP 157-59.  Then the trial 

court ruled that defense counsel “had a non-racially motivated reason” or a 

“proper basis” for the peremptories, not applying or even acknowledging any 

aspect of GR 37’s objective observer analysis or the fact that under GR 37(i), 

challenges based on demeanor or attitude require heightened scrutiny.   
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Under a de novo standard, an error occurred regardless of defense 

counsel’s explanations.  The court, not counsel, invoked the rule.  The court 

listened to the explanation required by the rule.  The court then did not apply 

the rule or its mandatory analysis.  Regardless of what defense counsel’s 

explanations were, the trial court had an obligation to perform the correct 

analysis to ensure that the jurors were not unfairly excluded.  Defense 

counsel did not “set up an error at trial,” the trial court “set up” and then 

committed the error all on its own.  State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 153, 

217 P.3d 321 (2009); State v. Hood, 196 Wn. App. 127, 131, 382 P.3d 710 

(2016).  The court of appeals’ refusal to acknowledge the de novo standard 

of review led it to misapprehend what the record shows and misapply the 

invited error doctrine.  Its decision conflicts with not only Jefferson, but 

Momah and Hood which hold the errors must be initiated by the defense.  

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) review is warranted. 

The court of appeals decision also claims that the error was invited 

because Mr. Smith “did not alert the trial court to the fact that it had applied 

an incorrect legal standard in evaluating the challenges.”  Slip op., 16.  This 

was part of Mr. Smith’s supposed “induce[ment]” for the trial court not to 

apply constitutional rules intended especially to protect Black men like him.  

Slip op., 16.  The invited error doctrine, however, “appears to require 

affirmative actions by the defendant.”  In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson, 
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141 Wn.2d 712, 714, 10 P.3d 380 (2000); accord Hood, 196 Wn. App. at 

135 (not invited error to acquiescence to jury instructions proposed by 

prosecution).  Acquiescing in the trial court’s error is not invited error at all, 

and the court of appeals decision conflicts with other precedent on this point, 

meriting review of its incorrect application of the law.  RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). 

In addition, the invited error doctrine cannot apply in these 

circumstances where the court acted without legal authority altogether by 

accepting counsel’s explanations rather than applying GR 37.  Several cases 

stand for the proposition that a party cannot invite the trial court to exceed its 

legal authority.  E.g., State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 870-71, 248 P.3d 494 

(2011); In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 871, 50 P.3d 618 

(2002); In re Pers. Restraint of Moore, 116 Wn.2d 30, 38, 803 P.2d 300 

(1991); In re Pers. Restraint of Gardner, 94 Wn.2d 504, 507, 617 P.2d 1001 

(1980); In re Pers. Restraint of Carle, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33-34, 604 P.2d 1293 

(1980).  Mr. Smith could not have invited an incorrect excusal of a juror that 

the trial court had no authority under the law to excuse. 

There can be no question the trial court lacked authority to sustain 

the peremptory challenges.  The court may “raise this objection on its own,” 

which it did here.  GR 37(c).  The party shall articulate the reasons for the 

peremptory challenge.  GR 37(d).  Then the court shall determine whether 

“an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of 
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the peremptory challenge,” and, if so, the challenge “shall be denied.”  GR 

37(e).  “The court need not find purposeful discrimination to deny the 

peremptory challenge.”  GR 37(e).  When a party relies on a juror’s 

problematic attitude or demeanor, the rule recognizes that this has been 

historically associated with improper discrimination and therefore requires 

advanced notice to the court and other parties so that the behavior can be 

timely verified and addressed.  GR 37(i).  A lack of corroboration by the trial 

court or other parties requires denial of the challenge.  GR 37(i). 

When the trial court invoked the rule, it had legal authority only to 

follow the rule.  It failed to follow the rule, finding that counsel had a 

“proper basis” for excusing Juror 32 and a “non-racially motivated reason” 

for excusing Juror 28.  RP 159-60.  These were not the correct inquiries.  

The trial court was required to ask whether an objective observer, familiar 

with America’s legacy of racial discrimination, could conclude race was a 

factor in the peremptory.  Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d at 249-50; GR 37(e)-(f).  

Because the trial court failed to engage in this mandatory inquiry at all, it 

lacked authority to allow the challenges altogether. 

Further, the explanations counsel gave did not meet the rule’s 

requirements as they pertained entirely to the jurors’ problematic attitude or 

demeanor.  To rely on these types of reasons, which have historically been 

associated with discrimination, they must be raised in advance so they can be 
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verified.  GR 37(i).  “A lack of corroboration by the judge or opposing 

counsel verifying the behavior shall invalidate the given reason for the 

peremptory challenge.”  GR 37(i).  The trial court corroborated one of 

counsel’s explanations about attitude/demeanor for Juror 28, but the 

prosecutor did not; no one corroborated Juror 32’s attitude/demeanor.  

Because it permitted challenges despite GR 37(i) requirement that such 

challenges be denied, the court acted without legal authority.  The invited 

error has no application, and the court of appeals’ holding to the contrary 

merits review under all RAP 13.4(b) criteria. 

Finally, the court of appeals decision is quite ironic, if not wholly 

perverse.  The policy purpose of GR 37 is to prevent racial discrimination in 

jury selection given Batson’s long suffered failure to do so.  It is a positive 

policy evolution rooted in Batson’s core holding that it violates the equal 

protection right of the accused to permit racial discrimination in jury 

selection.  Mr. Smith, a Black man, is among the clear intended recipients of 

this improvement in policy and law.  As discussed below, it was clear to 

everyone involved at Mr. Smith’s trial that his relationship with his counsel 

was extremely poor, which is likely why the trial court demanded an 

explanation from defense counsel’s peremptory challenges of Black jurors 

(but not the same explanation from the prosecution) in the first place, stating 

it was trying “to be fair to Smith.”.  RP 155-56, 158-60.  Yet the white court 
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of appeals panel decided that Mr. Smith’s white trial judge and white trial 

attorney could deprive him of its benefits by themselves offering and 

accepting racially problematic explanations that fail under the very rule 

designed to protect Mr. Smith.  In an age where the Washington Supreme 

Court sends open letters to the entire legal community about the urgent need 

to address racism in our system, the court of appeals decision promotes 

disrespect for the courts and the law by sending the opposite message.  It 

should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(4) for this reason. 

2. Review is appropriate to address the court of appeals’ 

narrow and incorrect holding that Mr. Smith’s 

relationship with his trial counsel did not completely 

break down or result in an irreconcilable conflict 

The state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to assistance of 

counsel.  U.S. CONST. amends. VI, XIV; CONST. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 

(1984); State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).  “If the 

relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, the refusal to 

substitute new counsel violates the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to 

effective assistance of counsel.”  In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 

710, 722, 16 P.3d 1 (2001).  The factors to be considered in analyzing 

whether a total breakdown has occurred are “(1) the extent of the conflict, (2) 

the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion.”  Id. at 
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724-32 (adopting and applying the analysis of United States v. Moore, 159 

F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998)).   

From the first pages of the trial transcript, it was clear that Mr. Smith 

and his attorney were on the verge of a complete breakdown in their 

relationship.  The attorney, over Mr. Smith’s objection, requested a 

continuance, admitting he was not prepared for trial and was “at odds” with 

Mr. Smith and “my own feelings about how I’m representing this client.”  

RP 3-4, 7-8.  Mr. Smith asked to discharge the attorney the following day 

because he did not feel that his lawyer was adequately representing him or 

communicating with him, referencing just hearing new information from his 

attorney for the first time.  RP 62.  After this request was denied, Mr. Smith 

persisted in trying to get the trial court’s attention.  RP 188, 262. 

Then, in the midst of trial, counsel asked to withdraw, stating her was 

“terrified” and “scared to death” to continue the relationship.  RP 267-68, 

274.  When this request was denied, when directed by the court to 

“reestablish rapport” with Mr. Smith, counsel asked whether the court was 

ordering him to do so or whether he could choose not to.  RP 280-81.  After 

a recess, counsel said Mr. Smith and he did not speak, and that Mr. Smith 

refused to answer questions or go over testimony in the event Mr. Smith 

testified.  RP 282-83.  Counsel openly contemplated disobeying the trial 

court’s order that he continue representation.  RP 283.  And counsel didn’t 
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merely request withdrawal, he asserted that Mr. Smith, “by his conduct, 

waives his right to counsel,” expressly arguing against his client’s 

constitutional rights.  RP 282.  Under the analysis set forth in Stenson, a 

complete and irreconcilable breakdown in the attorney-client relationship 

occurred. 

First, the extent of the conflict pervaded all aspects of the trial.  The 

relationship was poor at the beginning of trial and, by the time counsel 

requested withdrawal, it was clear that there was no communication 

occurring between them, that counsel was scared for his life to continue, and 

that counsel could no longer effectively represent Mr. Smith as counsel 

repeatedly stated.  See RP 268, 274-75, 280-83.   

Second, the trial court’s inquiry was lacking at all times—it did not 

inquire to the nature of the breakdown at all, not when Mr. Smith requested 

new counsel at the outset of trial and not later when both asked to part ways.  

RP 61-62, 279-80.  Aside from Mr. Smith’s statements of dissatisfaction 

with the representation and counsel’s own statements that he was not 

prepared, no one inquired into why Mr. Smith believed counsel’s 

representation was inadequate.  Instead, the court just resorted to the non 

sequitur of accusing Mr. Smith of delaying the trial even though he himself 

had objected to continuances.  RP 7, 62, 280. 
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Third, the issue about the poor relationship came to the trial court’s 

attention before trial at the first opportunity Mr. Smith had to raise it when 

the case was called for trial.  RP 3-4, 7-8, 61-62.  Had the court engaged in 

an adequate inquiry at this point, it could have better seen that a complete 

breakdown in the attorney-client relationship was coming or perhaps could 

have avoided it.  See State v. Regan, 143 Wn. App. 419, 429, 177 P.3d 783 

(2008) (client’s pretrial “consternation” at counsel’s agreement to 

continuance request put trial court on notice that there was potential conflict 

in relationship).  The trial court was on timely notice that there was a 

problem but instead refused to adequately inquire, as discussed.  All the 

Stenson/Moore factors show that a complete and irreconcilable breakdown 

and conflict occurred. 

The court of appeals decision acknowledges Stenson but does not 

apply its analysis or go through the Moore factors.  This alone conflicts with 

Stenson and merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

The court of appeals decision instead relies on State v. Fualaau, 155 

Wn. App. 347, 228 P.3d 771 (2010).  That case is different, involving an in-

court assault by the defendant against counsel, not counsel’s and client’s 

repeated assertions of a complete breakdown in their relationship without 

inquiry.  Id. at 359.  In Fualaau, the trial court found that the “outburst was 

intentional and calculated to create a conflict of interest and force a mistrial.”  
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Id.  The court of appeals agreed, noting that because he created the conflict, 

he would not be entitled to the substitution of new counsel based on 

forfeiture.  Id. at 360-61.  Aside from the assault issue, the Fualaau court 

found there was no other conflict between client and counsel.  Id. at 361-62. 

The court of appeals decision’s reliance on Fualaau rather than on 

Stenson is inapt.  There was no forfeiture finding by the trial court here at all, 

just threats that the court would find that Mr. Smith forfeited his rights if he 

continued to threaten counsel.  RP 285.  Also, there was no courtroom 

assault in front of the jury, which was the sole source of the issue in Fualaau.  

There were many more problems in this case based on the communication 

issues that existed at the outset of trial, counsel’s own statements before trial 

that he was at odds with his own representation of Mr. Smith, Mr. Smith’s 

alleged threats, counsel’s extreme expressions of fear for himself and his 

family, counsel’s advocacy against his client’s constitutional rights, and Mr. 

Smith’s and counsel’s agreement that their relationship suffered a complete 

breakdown.  Fualaau is readily distinguishable because it dealt with one 

courtroom assault, not a problematic relationship that confirmed to be 

obliterated in the midst of trial, and therefore Fualaau does not control. 

Not only does the court of appeals decision conflict with Stenson by 

misapplying Fualaau, it also misapprehends the facts that demonstrate that 

the relationship between Mr. Smith and his counsel was so dysfunctional that 
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it affected counsel’s performance at trial.  Mr. Smith is not required to show 

the outcome of trial would have differed, just that the conflict “must cause 

some lapse in representation contrary to the defendant’s interests” or “have 

‘likely’ affected particular aspects of counsel’s advocacy on behalf of the 

defendant.”  Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 428 (quoting State v. Robinson, 79 

Wn. App. 386, 395 P.2d 652 (1999) (quoting Sullivan v. Cuyler, 723 F.2d 

1077, 1086 (3d Cir. 1983)); United States v. Miskinis, 966 F.2d 1263, 1268 

(9th Cir. 1992)). 

The court of appeals decision sees no causal connection between the 

problematic relationship between Mr. Smith and his attorney and counsel’s 

bizarre request and argument under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) (intent to assault 

and reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm) rather than under RCW 

9A.36.021(1)(g) (strangulation), where only the latter theory was advanced 

by the state.  RP 363, 366-67 (repeatedly taking issue with the state’s 

assertions that it did not need any evidence of injury or intent to inflict bodily 

harm), despite the fact that the state did not need to prove injury and 

intention to inflict harm2).  The court of appeals notes that defense counsel 

proposed his instructions before the complete breakdown was revealed, but, 

again, the sour relationship was obvious from the outset of trial.  Counsel 

 
2 Moreover, the second degree assault statute does not even require intent to 

inflict bodily harm.  It requires an intentional assault and reckless infliction of 

bodily harm.  RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a).  Counsel did not appear to understand the 

law, a lapse in representation that ran contrary to Smith’s interests. 
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also stated he was unprepared, felt at odds in his representation of Mr. Smith, 

requested a continuance over Mr. Smith’s objection, and Mr. Smith asked to 

discharge counsel because he felt he was not been adequately represented or 

informed about his defense.  The connection the court of appeals fails to see 

is that Mr. Smith and counsel were correct in their assessments from the very 

beginning of the case.  The strains on the relationship plainly had an impact 

on counsel’s performance. 

Perhaps more problematical are the facts that the court of appeals 

does not address.  Counsel’s performance, which he noted himself was 

impaired at the outset of trial when he described being at odds with Mr. 

Smith and the representation, was impacted by his invalid explanations for 

excusing two Black jurors, which the court of appeals decision does not 

address.  This omission is particularly curious given that the trial court, 

already aware of the strained relationship, demanded explanation only from 

defense counsel for his peremptories to be fair to Mr. Smith, even though the 

state had exercised similar peremptories. 

Nor does the court of appeals decision address that Mr. Smith 

repeatedly tried to talk to the trial court rather than counsel after he had 

moved to discharge counsel.  RP 188, 262.  This indicates that the 

relationship was having problems before the complete breakdown was 

brought to light.  Cf. Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 429. ------
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Perhaps most alarming, the court of appeals decision does not 

address the record showing how the breakdown in communication impacted 

Mr. Smith’s decision whether to testify.  Counsel did state he informed Mr. 

Smith of all of the consequences of either option.  RP 330.  But counsel 

noted that Mr. Smith was still confused about what he was permitted to say, 

and counsel stated that there were things he would like Mr. Smith to say on 

the stand but also stated he did not think Mr. Smith would do well on the 

stand.  RP 330-32.  Counsel noted he had “tried to go over” his prepared 

direct examination with Mr. Smith, indicating that that communication had 

not occurred. RP 331.  Then counsel informed the jury that Mr. Smith would 

be testifying, but then said he wouldn’t be after the state indicated it would 

be seeking to introduce a prior conviction.  RP 335-38.  This shows that 

counsel and Mr. Smith were not communicating, counsel had obviously not 

gone over all the consequences of testifying, and had communicative 

blunders about this subject in front of the jury. 

Mr. Smith shows that the breakdown and conflict between him and 

his trial counsel impacted his counsel’s performance at trial under Regan.  

The court of appeals decision, which misapprehends or disregards the 

pertinent facts altogether, conflicts with Regan, meriting RAP 13.4(b)(2) 

review. 
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Mr. Smith did not have adequate legal representation at trial due to 

the complete breakdown in his attorney-client relationship.  The court of 

appeals decision conflicts with Stenson, Regan, and the constitutional 

guarantee of the assistance of counsel.  Review of this issue is merited under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3). 

E. CONCLUSION 

Because Mr. Smith satisfies all RAP 13.4(b) criteria, review should 

be granted. 

DATED this 28th day of October, 2020. 

  Respectfully submitted,  

  NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 

   

  KEVIN A. MARCH, WSBA No. 45397 

  Office ID No. 91051 

 Attorneys for Petitioner 
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ANDRUS, A.C.J. —Michael Bernard Smith challenges his conviction for 

second degree assault by strangulation, contending the trial court erred in denying 

his request to discharge his retained attorney, denying that attorney’s request to 

withdraw mid-trial, and granting his peremptory challenge of two African American 

jurors.  Smith, in a statement of additional grounds, contends he received 

ineffective assistance of counsel in the cross-examination of his victim, the filing of 

his notice of appeal, and advice he received relating to his sentencing range.  We 

conclude these arguments lack merit and affirm. 

FACTS 

In 2018, Smith and his former girlfriend, S.G., lived together in S.G.’s home 

in Federal Way.  Smith’s relationship with S.G., as she described it, was not healthy 
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and they often argued.  S.G. recounted a violent history with Smith frequently 

hitting her and pulling her hair.  S.G.’s three minor children who lived with her were 

afraid of Smith and often locked themselves in their bedroom.   

On August 3, 2018, Smith became angry at S.G. when her father retrieved 

a vehicle he had lent to her.  Smith and S.G. began to argue in their bedroom over 

the fact that S.G. did not own a car.  When Smith demanded she turn her cell 

phone over to him, S.G.’s 10-year-old daughter, I.T., came in and asked if she 

could use her mother’s phone.  I.T. testified she did so because she heard her 

mother begging Smith not to take her phone away.  She wanted to ask S.G. for the 

phone as a way to prevent Smith from taking it.  Smith grabbed the phone from 

I.T. and closed the bedroom door.  I.T. left to lock her siblings in their bedroom.   

Smith then picked S.G. up from her neck with his hand.  He squeezed her 

neck, impairing S.G.’s ability to breathe.  She described it feeling like “little ants all 

over [her] face” like she was ready to pass out.  As he squeezed her neck, he hit 

her in the face with his other hand.  When he let go, Smith took S.G.’s phone and 

left the apartment.   

S.G. ran out and told I.T. to go to the neighbor’s apartment to borrow their 

phone.  I.T. returned with the phone, which her mother used to call 911.  Federal 

Way Police Officer Ricardo Cuellar responded to S.G.’s call.  He saw a bruise 

forming on the left side of S.G.’s head and photographed her injury.  He recounted 

S.G.’s report that Smith had strangled her.  Although he saw no indication of any 

marks on S.G.’s neck, he did not deem that unusual because bruising from 

strangulation typically shows up later.   
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On August 10, 2018, the State charged Smith with second degree assault, 

domestic violence, by strangulation in violation of RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g).  A jury 

found him guilty of this offense.  The court sentenced Smith to 74 months in prison.   

ANALYSIS 

Smith challenges the trial court’s denial of his request to discharge his 

retained attorney on the second day of his trial, and his attorney’s mid-trial request 

to withdraw.  He also argues the trial court violated his equal protection rights by 

applying an incorrect legal standard to evaluate the permissibility of his own 

peremptory challenges of two African American jurors.  Finally, in a statement of 

additional grounds, Smith contends he received ineffective assistance of counsel 

in cross-examining S.G., in filing his notice of appeal, and advising him on his 

applicable sentencing range.  We address each argument in turn. 

A. Request to Discharge Counsel 

Smith appeals the trial court’s denial of his motion to discharge his retained 

counsel.  He argues the trial court did not “engage in an inquiry regarding the 

request.”  The record, however, supports the trial court’s discretionary decision to 

deny Smith’s request. 

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington State 

Constitution guarantees the right to select and be represented by one’s preferred 

attorney.  State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 365, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).  A criminal 

defendant who pays for his own attorney generally has a right to counsel of his 

choice.  Id.  But for a defendant with retained counsel, the right to counsel of choice 

is not absolute.  State v. Hampton, 184 Wn.2d 656, 663, 361 P.3d 734 (2015).  The 
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right to counsel of choice must be asserted “within a reasonable time before trial.”  

State v. Early, 70 Wn. App. 452, 457, 853 P.2d 964 (1993).  The trial court retains 

wide latitude in balancing “ ‘the right to counsel of choice . . . against the demands 

of its calendar.’ ” Hampton, 184 Wn.2d at 663. (quoting United States v. Gonzalez-

Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 152, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006)) (alteration 

in original).  Further, courts are required to balance the defendant’s choice of 

counsel against “ ‘the public’s interest in the prompt and efficient administration of 

justice.’ ”  Hampton, 184 Wn.2d at 663 (quoting Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 365). 

We review this balancing decision for abuse of discretion.  Hampton, 184 

Wn.2d at 670.  Where, as here, a request to discharge counsel would require a 

continuance to allow newly retained counsel to prepare for trial, we review a “trial 

court's denial of a continuance to determine whether [the denial] was ‘so arbitrary 

as to violate due process.’ ”  Hampton, 184 Wn.2d at 663 (quoting Ungar v. 

Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S. Ct. 841, 11 L. Ed. 2d 921 (1964)). 

In Hampton, the Washington State Supreme Court identified a 

nonexhaustive list of factors the trial court may consider in determining whether to 

grant a continuance to allow substitution of private counsel, including “whether the 

request came at a point sufficiently in advance of trial to permit the trial court to 

readily adjust its calendar,” whether the continuance would push the trial date past 

the speedy trial deadline, whether the defendant made the request as soon as he 

became aware of the need to retain new counsel, whether there was a rational 

basis to believe the defendant’s request was merely a delaying tactic, and whether 

current counsel was prepared to start trial.  184 Wn.2d at 669-70.  Because these 
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situations are highly fact specific and not all factors will exist in all cases “a trial 

court need not evaluate every factor in every case.”  Id, at 670. 

Smith was charged with assault in the second degree in August 2018.  At 

some point, Smith retained attorney Kevin McCament to represent him.  On 

January 15, 2019, the first day of Smith’s trial, McCament requested a short trial 

continuance because he and the State had a disagreement regarding Smith’s 

scoring and criminal history.  He recognized that it was unusual to request a 

continuance at that late stage but he felt a short, two day continuance would 

resolve the scoring dispute and might aid in resolving the matter short of trial.  

Defense counsel informed the court the speedy trial deadline was February 15, 

2019 and his client opposed any continuance.   

The trial court referred the continuance motion to the presiding judge, who 

denied the motion.  When they returned to the trial court, Smith’s attorney again 

asked for a brief recess to resolve the dispute over Smith’s criminal history.  In 

passing, he indicated “my client and I are not seeing eye to eye on things, and 

sometimes that happens.”  But he wanted time “to just look at the law with respect 

to this scoring situation.”  The court granted the request and recessed the trial until 

the following morning.   

The next day, McCament indicated that he had completed his research, 

resolved the criminal history scoring issue, and was ready to proceed.  Following 

arguments and rulings on motions in limine and just before jury selection was to 

begin, Smith stated “I want to fire him, you know, as my lawyer.”  Smith told the 

court that he did not feel “that [his attorney] was adequately representing [him]” 

--
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and indicated that he felt his lawyer was not communicating with him about what 

was going on with the case.  When the court questioned whether he was asking to 

represent himself, Smith said “[n]o. I - - I can try and get another lawyer.”  The 

court denied Smith’s request to discharge his attorney, indicating “[w]e’re not going 

to delay this trial.  You’re being adequately represented, more than adequately.  

You don’t get to delay the trial in this way.”   

We cannot conclude the court abused its discretion under Hampton.  First, 

the request was untimely.  Smith waited to make his request until after the trial 

court had ruled on motions in limine and when prospective jurors were waiting for 

jury selection to begin.  Second, Smith did not indicate that he had another attorney 

in mind or that he had even taken steps to secure another attorney.  Third, Smith 

expressed only vague and generalized concerns about strategic disagreements.  

Fourth, Smith’s speedy trial expiration date was a month away, and Smith would 

have had little time to secure new counsel and have that attorney ready to begin 

trial without a speedy trial waiver from Smith.  It would have been impossible for 

Smith to retain new counsel and still start trial before the February 15, 2019 speedy 

trial deadline.  Finally, Smith’s attorney was ready to proceed. 

Smith contends the trial court erred in failing to engage him in an inquiry as 

to the nature of his dissatisfaction with his counsel.  Relying on State v. Lopez, 79 

Wn. App. 755, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995), Smith argues that the trial court was required 

to make a detailed investigation into the underlying reasons for his dissatisfaction 

with counsel and that the failure to inform itself “of the facts on which to exercise 
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its discretion” amounted to an abuse of discretion.  Smith’s reliance on Lopez is 

misplaced for two reasons. 

First, Lopez does not support the proposition that a trial court must inquire 

into the reasons a defendant wants to discharge retained, rather than appointed, 

counsel.  Indigent defendants have a constitutional right to effective appointed 

counsel, but not to choose the lawyer appointed by the court.  Hampton, 184 Wn. 

2d at 662-63.  Because Lopez had appointed counsel, the court concluded that the 

trial court abused its discretion in denying Lopez’s request for the appointment of 

new counsel without asking him why he sought new counsel.  Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 

at 767.  But Lopez was premised on the need to ensure that an indigent 

defendant’s right to appointed counsel under the Sixth Amendment is not impaired.  

79 Wn. App. at 766.  Lopez does not apply in the context of retained counsel. 

Second, the record does not support Smith’s contention that the trial court 

summarily denied his motion without inquiring into the reasons for the request, as 

occurred in Lopez.  The trial court asked Smith why he sought new counsel.  Smith 

explained he did not believe counsel was adequately representing him or 

communicating with him.  The trial court knew the basis of Smith’s request before 

denying it, making this case distinguishable from Lopez. 

Smith contends the trial court had no basis for concluding that his request 

to discharge retained counsel was a delay tactic given that he had objected to his 

attorney’s continuance motions throughout his case.  But a reasonable judge could 

have concluded that Smith’s last minute request to switch retained attorneys, 

which would have inevitably led to a trial continuance, was an attempt to push off 
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his trial, despite his protestations to the contrary.  Although the record is silent as 

to when he retained McCament, there is nothing to suggest Smith lacked the 

opportunity to evaluate his attorney’s handling of the case and to decide whether 

to retain a different attorney well before trial.  A reasonable judge could have 

concluded that Smith could have made the request in a timely manner and his 

decision not to do so could only be attributable to a desire to delay trial. 

The trial court’s decision to deny Smith’s motion to discharge retained 

counsel on the second day of trial was not an abuse of discretion. 

B. Counsel’s Request to Withdraw 

Next, Smith argues that the trial court erred when it denied his attorney’s 

motion to withdraw mid-trial after reporting that Smith had threatened to physically 

harm him.  Smith contends that the trial court denied his Sixth Amendment and 

article I, section 22 right to counsel because his counsel had a “serious, 

irreconcilable conflict” that impacted his ability to represent Smith.  We reject this 

argument as well. 

We review a trial court’s denial of a motion to withdraw for abuse of 

discretion.  Hampton, 184 Wn.2d at 670.  A trial court’s decision will be affirmed 

unless manifestly unreasonable, is exercised on untenable grounds, or made for 

untenable reasons.  Id.  A decision will be deemed to be based on untenable 

grounds or made for untenable reasons if it rests on facts unsupported by the 

record or if reached applying the wrong legal standard.  Id.  And a decision is 

manifestly unreasonable if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard, 
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adopts a view that no reasonable person would take and arrives at a decision 

outside the range of acceptable choices.  Id. at 670-71. 

On January 17, 2019, the third day of trial, the State called S.G., Smith’s 

victim, and her 10-year-old daughter, I.T., to testify about Smith’s assault.  On 

January 22, 2019, the morning of the fourth day of trial, McCament appeared 

before the trial court, outside the presence of his client, and requested to withdraw.  

He reported that Smith had threatened him the day before during a visit in the jail.  

He informed the court that Smith had berated and criticized him and the meeting 

“did not go well.”  McCament reported that Smith became physically intimidating 

and told him “I got something for you, and you’re not going to like it.”  He told the 

court he had learned that Smith had gang affiliations, that Smith “terrified” him, and 

that he feared for his life and for his family.  Counsel said: 

I tried to do the job that I believe I should do and do my duty as a 
lawyer, but I – under these conditions, Your Honor, I just can’t 
continue.  I’m afraid to even be by him.  If the verdict came in, I would 
not even want to be near him. 

He said “I can’t do this anymore.”   

The trial court accepted counsel’s fears as genuine and recessed to 

consider its options.  When the proceedings resumed, the trial court asked for 

Smith to be brought into the courtroom, advised Smith that he had the right to 

remain silent, and asked defense counsel to repeat what he had said to the trial 

court when Smith was not present.  Defense counsel again recounted how Smith 

had berated, criticized, and intimidated him.  Counsel indicated that Smith had put 

his face up to the glass, “towering over me in a buffed-up fashion” and threatened 

him.  Counsel then reiterated his fears and stated “I just can’t do it anymore.”   

--
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The State expressed concerns that Smith was engaging in misconduct as 

a delay tactic.  The State pointed to Smith’s “numerous attempts” to get rid of his 

defense counsel as evidence justifying such a conclusion.   

Smith denied that he was trying to delay his trial, telling the court “you know 

I’ve been trying to go to trial since day one.”  Smith told the trial court that he and 

counsel did not “see[] eye to eye on the strategy” and that he did not feel he was 

being “represented right.”  When the trial court asked Smith if he would prefer to 

represent himself, Smith made it clear that he did not want to represent himself 

and wanted to hire another lawyer.   

The trial court denied the motion to withdraw and called for another recess, 

suggesting Smith and McCament use the time “to attempt to reestablish rapport.”  

Smith expressed disbelief that his counsel was not being allowed to withdraw: 

So you -- are you going to keep him on my -- on the case?  Like we 
have -- you see like we having a disagreement, and he said I 
threatened him and whatnot and this and that.  And then like this for 
the -- on my case, like he ain’t going to represent me right, then he 
ain’t been doing, anyway, and you still keep him on my case, uhm, 
after he said I threatened him and his family --  
 
After the recess, Smith and his attorney asked to be heard on the matter 

again.  Counsel told the court he was “contemplating a disregard of this Court’s 

order” and that he believed Smith had “waived that valid right to have assistance 

of counsel simply by way of his conduct.”  Smith reiterated that he felt it would be 

irresponsible to keep his defense counsel.   

The court, citing State v. Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. 347, 288 P.3d 711 (2010), 

refused to reconsider its decision, indicating that “if Mr. Smith were to engage in 
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any conduct . . . further conduct . . . that would result in forfeiture of his right to 

counsel” but that the court would not allow counsel to withdraw.   

Thereafter, Smith’s attorney continued to represent him through the 

conclusion of the trial and at a subsequent sentencing hearing.   

Smith, relying on In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 16 P.3d 

1 (2001) and United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998), argues the 

trial court erred in denying counsel’s motion to withdraw because Smith and his 

attorney suffered an “irreconcilable conflict of interest.”  In Stenson, our Supreme 

Court recognized that “[i]f the relationship between lawyer and client completely 

collapses, the refusal to substitute new counsel violates the defendant’s Sixth 

Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.”  142 Wn.2d at 722.  In Moore, 

the Ninth Circuit recognized that a defendant has a right to conflict free 

representation under the Sixth Amendment.  159 F.3d at 1157. 

But to prevail on this claim, Smith must establish that “an actual conflict of 

interest adversely affected his lawyer’s performance.”  State v. Regan, 143 Wn. 

App. 419, 427, 177 P.3d 783 (2008); Moore, 159 F.3d at 1157.  The mere 

possibility that a conflict of interest exists will not suffice.  State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 

798, 861, 10 P.3d 977 (2000).  A conflict of interest exists when defense counsel 

“owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant.”  

Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. at 362, citing State v. White, 80 Wn. App. 406, 411-12, 907 

P.2d 310 (1995).  “ ‘Until a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented 

conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his 

claim of ineffective assistance.’ ”  State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 573, 79 P.3d 
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432 (2003), quoting Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. 

Ed. 2d 333).  “ ‘The determination of whether a conflict exists precluding continuing 

representation of a client is a question of law and is reviewed de novo.’ ”  State v. 

Vicuna, 119 Wn. App. 26, 30–31, 79 P.3d 1 (2003) (quoting State v. Ramos, 83 

Wn. App. 622, 629. 922 P.2d 193 (1996)). 

Here, Smith does not contend his trial attorney owed a duty to a third party 

whose interests were adverse to Smith’s interests.  Instead, he contends 

McCament’s expressions of fear and concerns for his personal safety created a 

conflict of interest between Smith and the attorney.  But if Smith threatened his 

attorney, this misconduct toward counsel does not create a conflict of interest 

requiring counsel to withdraw.  Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. at 359.  A defendant cannot 

force the withdrawal of his attorney by threatening him.  Id.  

Even if Smith could establish that his trial attorney’s fear of bodily injury 

constituted an actual conflict of interest, his claim still fails because he has not 

demonstrated that the conflict adversely affected counsel’s performance.  To 

demonstrate that a conflict had an adverse effect on counsel’s performance, Smith 

must show that a plausible alternative defense strategy was available, but was not 

pursued, because of the conflict with the attorney’s other interests.  Regan, 143 

Wn. App. at 428. 

Smith maintains the conflict did impact counsel’s performance pointing to 

the fact that counsel requested a jury instruction for second degree assault under 

RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a), rather than under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g), the theory of 

culpability advanced by the State. But counsel filed proposed instructions on 
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January 15, 2019, well in advance of the events leading up to counsel’s request to 

withdraw on January 22, 2019, and we can see no causal connection between the 

two. 

Moreover, even if counsel erred in submitting this proposed instruction, 

Smith has not demonstrated prejudice.  Counsel submitted two proposed “to 

convict” instructions, one based on reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm, a 

crime the State had not charged, and one based on strangulation.  The court’s 

instructions included only one “to convict” instruction based on strangulation.  To 

the extent counsel submitted inappropriate proposed instructions in advance of 

trial, it had no effect on how the jury was instructed. 

Smith argues that counsel also made errors in identifying the numbers of 

the jurors he sought to excuse, leading to the dismissal of at least one juror counsel 

had not intended to dismiss.  But the parties selected the jury on January 16, 2019.  

Counsel sought to withdraw on January 22, 2019, based on an incident that 

occurred the day before, on January 21, 2019.  Smith has not demonstrated any 

causal connection between these two events. 

Smith argues that counsel’s statement that “I can’t do this” demonstrates 

that his advocacy was adversely impacted.  But after making this statement, 

counsel in fact continued to represent Smith at trial and at sentencing.  The record 

does not support Smith’s contention that counsel was somehow paralyzed with 

fear and unable to proceed. 

Indeed, the record reveals counsel had a coherent defense strategy: he 

argued the State failed to prove Smith strangled S.G.  Counsel pointed out that 
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S.G. had no physical injuries to her face or neck, S.G.’s version of events was 

inconsistent with a lack of visible injuries, and S.G. had a motive for fabricating the 

incident when Smith left her for a different woman.  Before he moved to withdraw, 

counsel cross-examined S.G. and elicited evidence from her to support this theory 

of the case.  Counsel also elicited evidence from I.T. that she did not see Smith 

harm her mother.   

After his motion to withdraw was denied, counsel was able to continue to 

develop this theory of defense.  During his cross examination of Officer Cuellar, 

counsel elicited evidence that when the officer arrived at S.G.’s apartment, she 

was calm, able to answer his questions, having no problems breathing, not in pain, 

and declined any medical treatment.  He elicited evidence from Federal Way Police 

Detective Billy Forrester, who attempted unsuccessfully to locate the neighbor 

whom S.G. had identified as having helped her contact the police on the night of 

the assault, that while he was able to speak with S.G. once by phone, he was 

subsequently unable to locate her or the alleged neighbor.  He too confirmed the 

photographs taken of S.G. on the night of the assault showed no indication of any 

injury.  We find no support for Smith’s contention that his attorney was incapable 

of presenting a coherent defense because he was too afraid of Smith to do so. 

Smith has not demonstrated an actual conflict of interest that adversely 

affected counsel’s performance.  The decision to deny counsel’s motion to 

withdraw was thus not manifestly unreasonable. 
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C. Smith’s Peremptory Challenges 

Next, Smith argues that the trial court erred in allowing him to use 

peremptory challenges to remove two African American jurors from the jury.  Smith 

contends the trial court misapplied GR 37 and our Supreme Court’s revised 

Batson1 test.  The State contends Smith invited the error and cannot raise the 

issue for the first time on appeal.  We agree with the State. 

We review Batson challenges for clear error and defer to the trial court to 

the extent its rulings are factual.  State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 

(2018).  But the invited error doctrine precludes a party from setting up an error at 

the trial court and then complaining of it on appeal.  State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 

867, 870-71, 792 P.2d 514 (1990); State v. Johnson, 147 Wn. App. 276, 194 P.3d 

1009 (2008).  The invited error doctrine applies even when the alleged error is of 

constitutional magnitude.  City of Seattle v. Patu, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 

273 (2002).  To determine whether the invited error doctrine is applicable to a case, 

we consider the tactical choices Smith made and consider whether the defendant 

“affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefitted from 

it.”  State v. Momah, 167 Wn. 2d 140, 154, 217 P.3d 321 (2009).   

At trial, defense counsel peremptorily struck potential jurors 28 and 32, both 

of whom were African American.  The court excused the venire so that it could 

establish that the jurors of color were excused for appropriate reasons.  Defense 

counsel explained that he struck potential juror 32 because she was not engaged 

in the process and he could not “recall her ever saying anything, really, at all.”  With 

                                            
1 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). 
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respect to potential juror 28, counsel referred to his demeanor, saying “I took it - - 

I took a guess that maybe because he was a male he might have had some 

prejudice against my client in such a kind of a case.”  Counsel went on to say “his 

behavior said to me that he just . . . almost like he didn’t want to be here.”  The 

court found that counsel had a “proper basis” for striking potential juror 32 and a 

“non-racially motivated” reason for striking potential juror 28.   

Smith argues the trial court, in applying GR 37, failed to apply the correct 

legal standard in determining whether the jurors were stricken for discriminatory 

reasons, requiring reversal.  But the record is clear that Smith invited this error.  

Smith’s counsel made tactical choices to exclude two prospective jurors who he 

believed to be uninterested in serving on the jury.  After articulating the basis for 

the peremptory challenges and hearing the trial court’s analysis, Smith did not alert 

the trial court to the fact that it had applied an incorrect legal standard in evaluating 

the challenges.  To the contrary, he argued at trial that the strikes were proper and 

not motivated by racial considerations.  He both assented to the error and 

materially contributed to it at trial.  If the trial court erred in failing to comply with 

either constitutional requirements or court rules of procedure relating to 

peremptory challenges, it was Smith’s own conduct that induced the court to do 

so.  Because Smith invited the error at trial, he is now precluded from claiming on 

appeal that it is reversible error. 

D. Cumulative Errors 

Smith argues the cumulative effect of the errors in his case require reversal 

of his conviction and a new trial.  Smith argues that each of the above alleged 
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errors built upon each other “augmenting their prejudicial effect” and depriving 

Smith of a fair trial.  We disagree.   

Cumulative error is established when several trial court errors do not 

warrant reversal when taken alone but the combined effect of the errors denied the 

defendant a fair trial.  State v. Hodges, 118 Wn. App. 668, 673-74, 77 P.3d 375 

(2003).  Because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion 

to discharge counsel and in denying counsel’s later motion to withdraw and Smith 

invited any error related to the peremptory challenges, we conclude Smith was not 

deprived of a fair trial. 

E. Statement of Additional Grounds 

In a statement of additional grounds, Smith appears to argue that he 

received ineffective assistance of counsel for three reasons.  First, he contends 

that his attorney failed to impeach a witness for untruthfulness under ER 609(b) 

and 608(a)(b).  Second, Smith argues that his attorney did not correctly file his 

notice of appeal and that he and another attorney were left to correct the error.  

Finally, he contends that his attorney gave him incorrect legal advice regarding his 

sentencing ranges which caused Smith to turn down a plea deal from the State.   

A criminal defendant has the right to effective assistance of trial counsel 

under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 

22 of the Washington State Constitution.  In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 

647, 672, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).  To establish that the right to effective assistance of 

counsel has been violated, the defendant must make two showings: that counsel's 

representation was deficient, and that counsel's deficient representation caused 
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prejudice.  Id. (quoting State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334–35, 899 P.2d 1251 

(1995)).  To establish deficient performance, the defendant must show that trial 

counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.  Id. 

Trial strategy and tactics cannot form the basis of a finding of deficient 

performance.  State v. Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001) 

(quoting State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77–78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)). 

Prejudice can be shown only if there is a reasonable probability that, absent 

counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been 

different.  Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 672–73.  The reasonableness of trial counsel's 

performance is reviewed in light of all of the circumstances of the case at the time 

of counsel's conduct.  State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991).   

With regard to Smith’s first claim, the extent of cross-examination is a matter 

of judgment and strategy. Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 720.  This court will not find 

ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's decisions during cross-

examination if counsel's performance fell within the range of reasonable 

representation.  Id.  Moreover, in order to establish prejudice for the failure to 

effectively cross-examine a witness, the defendant must show that the testimony 

that would have been elicited on cross-examination could have overcome the 

evidence against the defendant.  Id.  

Smith’s argument that his attorney failed to impeach S.G. for truthfulness 

amounts to an assertion that trial counsel could have done a better job at cross-

examination.  This is not enough to demonstrate deficient performance. State v. 

Johnston, 143 Wn. App. 1, 20, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007). 



No. 79626-7-I/19 

- 19 - 
 

With regard to Smith’s claim relating to his notice of appeal, his attorney 

filed this notice within days of the entry of the judgment and sentence.  Although 

the notice of appeal contained a typographical error, the notice was timely filed.  

Smith was able to correct the clerical mistake by filing an amended notice of 

appeal, and the State has not challenged the timeliness of Smith’s appeal.  Smith 

has not demonstrated that he has suffered any harm from this error. 

Smith’s third claim relating to advice he received during plea negotiations 

involves facts outside the record before this court.  Where, as here, the claim is 

brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the 

trial record.  State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Affirmed. 
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